§ -]

arth Negotiations Bulletin
A Réporting Serics for Ervironment and Developret Negatiations

Onlineat http://www.iisd.ca/chemical/pops7/

Vol. 15No.81  Published by the International Institute for Sustainable Development (11ISD) Monday, 21 July 2003

SUMMARY OF THE SEVENTH SESSION OF is operationalized throughout the Stockholm Convention, with
THE INTERGOVERNMENTAL NEGOTIATING specificreferencesin the preamble, the objective and the provision
COMMITTEE FOR AN INTERNATIONAL on identifying new POPs.

LEGALLY BINDING INSTRUMENT FOR Since the Stockholm Convention’s adoption, 151 countries
IMPLEMENTING INTERNATIONAL ACTION havesignedthetreaty, and 33 haveratified it. The Convention will
ON CERTAIN PERSISTENT ORGANIC enter into force 90 days after receipt of the 50th instrument of rati-
POLLUTANTS: 14-18 JULY 2003 fication.
The Seventh Session of the I ntergovernmental Negotiating A BRIEF HISTORY OF THE POPSNEGOTIATIONS

Committee (INC-7) for an International Legally Binding Instru- . . .
ment for Implementing International Action on Certain Persistent During the 1960s and 1970s, the use of certain chemicalsand

Organic Pollutants (POPs) was held from 14-18 July 2003, in petii cidesin indu;;try and agricultureli ncreased dramaticgl ly.In
Geneva, Switzerland. Approximately 400 del egates from more part C.UI o, acertain category of cherm cals k.nown aspers stent
than 135 countries, aswell asrepresentatives of intergovernmental organic pollutants (.POI.DS.) ar[tr_acted 'T“ef.”a‘! onal attention duetoa
and non-governmental organizations, attended the meeting. growing body of scientific evidenceindicating that exposureto
During the week, delegates discussed anumber of issues very low doses of POPs can |ead to cancer, damage to the central

relating to, inter alia, preparationsfor the Conference of the Parties and peripheral nervous systems, diseases of theimmune system,

(COP), and adopted decisionson: offers to host the permanent reproductive disorders and interference with normal infant and
Secretariat; technical assistance; national implementationplans ~ ©1ild development. POPs are chemical substancesthat persist,

(NIPS); exempted use; Party reporting; specific exemptions; DDT: biocaccumulate and pose arisk of causing adverse effectsto human

interim financial arrangements; a standardized Toolkit for identifi- health and the en}/i rhonmené. With further _evidenr(]:e of rt]he Irc])ng-
cation and quantification of dioxin and furan rel eases; measuresto range transport of these substancesto regionswherethey have

reduce or eliminate rel eases from stockpiles and wastes; effective- never beep used or produch, and the consequent threats t.hey pose
ness evaluation; the budget; and the financial mechanism. to the environment worldwide, theinternational community called

The Stockholm Convention was adopted and opened for signa- fﬁr urgent global action to reduce and eliminatetheir releaseinto
tureon 22 May 2001. Thetreaty callsfor international action on 12 the environment.

POPs grouped into three categories. 1) pesticides: aldrin, chlor-
dane, DDT, dieldrin, endrin, heptachlor, mirex and toxaphene; 2)

industrial chemicals: hexachl orobenzene (HCB) and polychlori- IN THISISSUE
nated bi phenyls (PCBs); and 3) unintended by-products: dioxins
and furans. Governments are to promote best availabl e techniques T -
and environmental practices for replacing existing POPswhile A Brief History of the POPsNegotiations. .............. 1
preventing the devel opment of new POPSs. Provision has also been INC-7 Report >
madefor a_iproceglure i_dentifyi ng additional POPsand the criteria Review of 6n.g.o.i n g .I nt ernatl onal Act|V| t-i & """""
to be considered in doing so. . _ Relating to the Work of the Convention ... ......... 3
Key elements of thetreaty include: the requirement that devel- Activities of the Secretariat and Review of the

oped countries provide new and additional financial resources, Situation asregards Extrabudgetary Funds. . . .. . . . . . 3
control measuresto eliminate production and use of intentionally Preparationsfor the Conference of the Parties . . . . . . . 4
produced POPs, eliminate unintentionally produced POPs, where ClosingPlenary. ..., 10
feasible, and manage and dispose of POPswastesin an environ-
mentally sound manner; and substitution involving the use of safer ABrief Analysisof INC-7..........cooveriienn... 10
chemicalsand processesto prevent toxic by-products. Precaution

ThingstoLook For ............. .. ... ... ... ...... 11

This issue of the Earth Negotiations Bulletin© <enb@iisd.org> is written and edited by Paula Barrios <paula@iisd.org>, Noelle Eckley <noelle@iisd.org>, Tamilla
Gaynutdinova<tamilla@iisd.org>, Stefan Jungcurt <stefan@iisd.org>, PiaM. Kohler <pia@iisd.org>, FionaK oza<fiona@iisd.org>, Chris Spence <chris@iisd.org> and
Hugh Wilkins <hugh@iisd.org>. The Digital Editor isDavid Fernau <david@iisd.org>. The Editor is Pamela S. Chasek, Ph.D. <pam@iisd.org> and the Director of 11SD
Reporting Services is Langston James "Kimo" Goree VI <kimo@iisd.org>. The Sustaining Donors of the Bulletin are the Government of the United States of America
(through the Department of State Bureau of Oceansand I nternational Environmental and Scientific Affairs), The Netherlands Ministry of Foreign Affairs, the Government
of Canada (through CIDA, DFAIT and Environment Canada), the Swiss Agency for Environment, Forests and L andscape (SAEFL), the United Kingdom (through the
Department for International Development - DFID and Department for Environment Food and Rural Affairs- DEFRA), the European Commission (DG-ENV), theDanish
Ministry of Foreign Affairs, and the Government of Germany (through the German Federal Ministry of Environment - BMU, and the German Federal Ministry of
Development Cooperation - BMZ). General Support for the Bulletin during 2003 is provided by the United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP), the Government of
Australia, the Ministry of Environment and the Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Sweden, the Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Trade of New Zealand, the Ministry of Foreign
Affairsof Norway, Swan International, the Japanese Ministry of Environment (through the Institute for Global Environmental Strategies - IGES), the Japanese Ministry of
Economy, Trade and Industry (through the Global Industrial and Social Progress Research Institute - GISPRI), and the Ministry for Environment of Iceland. The opinions
expressed in the Earth Negotiations Bulletin are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the views of 11SD or other donors. Excerptsfrom the Earth Negotiations
Bulletin may be used in non-commercial publicationswith appropriate academic citation. For information on the Bulletin, including requeststo providereporting services,
contact the Director of 11SD Reporting Servicesat <kimo@iisd.org>, +1-212-644-0217 or 212 East 47th St. #21F, New York, NY 10017, USA.



http://www.iisd.ca/chemical/pops7/

Monday, 21 July 2003

Vol. 15 No. 81 Page 2

Prior to 1992, international action on chemicals primarily
involved developing tools for information exchange and risk
assessment, such asthe FAO's International Code of Conduct for
the Distribution and Use of Pesticides and UNEP's L ondon Guide-
linesfor the Exchange of Information on Chemicalsin Interna-
tional Trade. In 1992, the UN Conference on Environment and
Development (UNCED) adopted Agenda 21. Chapter 19 of
Agenda 21, “Environmentally Sound Management of Toxic Chem-
icalsIncluding Prevention of Illegal International Trafficin Toxic
and Dangerous Products,” called for the creation of the | ntergov-
ernmental Forum on Chemical Safety (IFCS). Agenda21 also
called for the establishment of the Inter-Organization Programme
on the Sound Management of Chemicals (IOMC) to promote coor-
dination among international organizationsinvolvedinimple-
menting Chapter 19.

In March 1995, the UNEP Governing Council (GC) adopted
decision 18/32 inviting the IOMC, the IFCS and the I nternational
Programme on Chemical Safety to initiate an assessment process
regarding aninitial list of 12 POPs. In response, the |FCS convened
an Ad Hoc Working Group on POPs, which devel oped aworkplan
for assessing availableinformation on the chemistry, sources,
toxicity, environmental dispersion and socioeconomic impacts of
the 12 POPs.

In June 1996, the Ad Hoc Working Group convened ameeting
of expertsin Manila, the Philippines, and concluded that sufficient
information existed to demonstrate the need for international action
to minimizetherisksfrom the 12 POPs, including aglobal legally
binding instrument. The meeting forwarded arecommendation to
the UNEP GC and the World Health Assembly (WHA) that imme-
diateinternational action betaken. In February 1997, the UNEP
GC adopted decision 19/13C endorsing the conclusions and recom-
mendations of the IFCS. The GC requested that UNEP, together
with relevant international organizations, prepare for and convene
an intergovernmental negotiating committee (INC) with amandate
to develop, by the end of 2000, an international legally binding
instrument for implementing international action, beginning with
the 12 specified POPs. Also in February 1997, the second meeting
of the IFCS decided that the IFCS Ad Hoc Working Group would
continueto assist in preparationsfor the negotiations. In May 1997,
the WHA endorsed the recommendations of the|FCS and
reguested that the World Health Organi zation (WHO) participate
actively in negotiations of theinternational instrument.

INC-1: TheFirst Session of the Intergovernmental Negotiating
Committee (INC-1) was held from 29 Juneto 3 July 1998, in Mont-
real, Canada. INC-1 established the Implementation Aspects
Group (IAG) to addresstechnical and financial assistance and
reguested the Secretariat to prepare adocument for INC-2
containing material for possible inclusion in an international
legally binding instrument. INC-1 also established the Criteria
Expert Group (CEG) to elaborate proposalsfor science-based
criteriaand to develop a procedure for identifying additional POPs
ascandidatesfor futureinternational action.

INC-2: INC-2was held from 25-29 January 1999, in Nairobi,
Kenya. Discussionswere largely based on the Secretariat-prepared
outline of aninternational legally binding instrument. TheINC
completed preliminary discussions on: measuresto reduce or elim-
inate rel eases of POPsinto the environment; national implementa-
tion plans (NIPs); information exchange; public information,
awareness and education; and research, devel opment and moni-
toring. The lAG held general discussions on possible capacity-
building activities requiring technical and financial assistance.

INC-3: INC-3 met from 6-11 September 1999, in Geneva,
Switzerland, and adopted CEG proposalsfor aprocedure estab-
lishing areview committeeto apply screening criteriaand to
prepare arisk profileand risk management evaluation for proposed
substances as abasisfor further negotiation. Delegates made
advances on language on measuresto reduce or eliminate rel eases,
NIPs, thelisting of substancesin annexes, and information
exchange. Inthe |AG, delegates continued discussions on technical
assistance and financial resources and mechanisms.

INC-4: INC-4 met from 20-25 March 2000, in Bonn, Germany.
While INC-4 succeeded in drafting articles on technical assistance
and financial resources and mechanisms, the text remained heavily
bracketed and devel oped and devel oping country positions
remained divided. Delegates devoted much timeto addressing
control measures and made some headway on elimination language
with respect to byproducts. INC-4 also addressed and made
progresson articlesregarding: NIPs; listing of substances; infor-
mation exchange; public information, awareness and education;
and research, development and monitoring.

INC-5: INC-5 met from 4-10 December 2000, in Johannes-
burg, South Africa, and concluded negotiations on the Convention
inthe early morning hours of Saturday, 10 December. Del egates
discussed issuesrelated to: financial resources and mechanisms;
measuresto reduce or eliminate rel eases; and precaution. Informal
consultations on financial issues and precaution were held
throughout the final night of the conference.

CONFERENCE OF PLENIPOTENTIARIESON THE
STOCKHOLM CONVENTION: The Conference of the Pleni-
potentiaries convened from 22-23 May 2001, in Stockholm,
Sweden. During the Diplomatic Conference, del egates adopted: the
Stockholm Convention; resolutions adopted by INC-4 and INC-5,
which addressinterim financial arrangements and issuesrelated to
the Basel Convention,; resolutions forwarded by the Preparatory
Meeting; and the Final Act.

INC-6: INC-6 met from 17-21 June 2002, in Geneva, Switzer-
land. Delegates adopted decisionson DDT and the Register of
specific exemptions; the POPs Review Committee; aclearing-
house mechanism; technical assistance; financial resourcesand
mechanisms and the interim financial mechanism; regional and
subregional centersfor capacity building and technology transfer;
effectiveness eval uation; and non-compliance. INC-6 al so estab-
lished an Expert Group on Best Available Techniques (BAT) and
Best Environmental Practices (BEP).

INC-7REPORT

INC Chair John Buccini (Canada) opened INC-7 on Monday
morning, 14 July 2003. In his opening statement, Philippe Roch,
Director of the Swiss Agency for the Environment, Forestsand
L andscape, highlighted the volume of outstanding work to be
completed before the first meeting of the Conference of the Parties
(COP-1) and underlined the importance of collaboration between
UN and other bodies. Ahmed Djoghlaf, Assistant Executive
Director of UNEP, delivered amessage from UNEP Executive
Director Klaus Topfer, emphasizing the importance attached to
POPs at the World Summit on Sustainable Development (WSSD)
and the UNEP Governing Council and the desirability of the
Convention’s prompt entry into force.

Delegates then adopted the agenda (UNEP/POPS/INC.7/1)
with minor amendments. Chair Buccini presented the organization
of work (UNEP/POPS/INC.7/INF/1), highlighting theimportance
of thework of the Legal Drafting Group. Jim Willis, Executive



5 Earth NegotiationsBulletin
Vol. 15 No. 81 Page 3

Monday, 21 July 2003

Secretary of the Stockholm Convention interim Secretariat,
reported on the Secretariat’s progressin compl eting the work
regquested at INC-6, noting that the Secretariat was unable to assess
thefeasibility of Stockholm Convention regional and subregional
centers, nor conduct rel evant case studies dueto resource
constraints.

INC-7 elected Mearle Barrett (Jamaica) as apermanent Bureau
member, representing the Latin American and Caribbean Group
(GRULAC), and Bayat Mokhtari (Iran) asatemporary member
representing the Asia-Pacific Group for INC-7.

During the week, del egates convened in Plenary, a Budget
Group, acontact group on financial mechanisms, and the Legal
Drafting Group (LDG). Thisreport followsthe structure used inthe
Annotated Provisional Agenda(UNEP/POPS/INC.7/1/Add.1) and
describesthe discussionsin the Plenary, contact group and Budget
Group sessions throughout the week. Discussionsinthe LDG were
closed to observers and are not included; however, reportsfrom
that group to Plenary are summarized.

REVIEW OF ONGOING INTERNATIONAL ACTIVITIES
RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE CONVENTION

In Plenary on Monday morning, the Secretariat introduced the
fifth edition of the master list of actions on the reduction and/or
elimination of POPsreleases (UNEP/POPS/INC.7/INF/15). Jim
Willis, UNEP Chemicals, highlighted the GEF- and donor-
supported activities of UNEP in facilitating the Convention’s entry
into force and implementation. The Gambiaand Ghanahighlighted
their ratification of the Convention, while Algeria, Benin, Came-
roon, Egypt, Haiti, Kenya, Malawi, Maaysia, Mali, Mongalia,
Niger, Nigeria, the Philippines, Syria, the US and Venezuela noted
their work toward ratification. Several delegates noted ongoing
work intheir countries, including the US, which highlighted its
project to assist countriesin gaining access to POPsinformation
through the Internet. Nigerianoted its effortsto increase stake-
holder awareness, and Cameroon outlined itswork identifying
aternativesto POPs.

Several countries noted the need for additional funding,
including Kenyaregarding its research on alternativesto control
disease vectors, the Dominican Republic onits national consulta-
tions, and Céte d’ Ivoireregarding NIP development. South Africa,
Jamaicaand Chinanoted their national capacity-building efforts.
Italy, on behalf of the EU, noted the European Commission’s draft
proposal onimplementation of the Convention. Samoaand Mali
highlighted subregional workshops on POPs.

Canada emphasized theimportance of the financial mecha-
nism, NI P guidance, effectiveness evaluation, guidelines on Best
Available Techniques (BAT) and guidance on Best Environmental
Practices (BEP), the POPs Review Committee (POPRC), and the
compliance mechanism. Egypt requested clarification on measures
to prohibit illicit trafficking and on thefinancial cost of replacing
POPs. Togo underscored the importance of the Bamako Conven-
tion. Ghanaand Algeriaemphasized the need to promote synergies
among the chemicals-related conventions. Mauritania stressed the
need to assessthe socia and environmental effects of POPs.
Morocco stressed the need to focus on financing and technology
transfer. Senegal stressed the importance of establishing regional
centers using existing frameworks. Haiti expressed interest in
increasing cooperation with African francophone countries. Syria
called for assistance in eliminating POPs stockpiles. The Demo-
cratic Republic of Congo noted the difficulties encountered by
African countriesin ratifying the Convention. Belarus noted the

problem of obsolete pesticides. Antiguaand Barbudacalled upon
the international community to assist Small Island Developing
Statesin strengthening their capacitiesto address POPs-related
issues.

Several organizations, including UNIDO, UNITAR, the World
Bank, FAO, UNDP and the South Pacific Regional Environmental
Programme highlighted their work on capacity building and/or
implementation of the Convention. The WHO underlined itswork
on, inter alia: disease vector control measures; alternativesto DDT;
and monitoring pesticide use. The Global Environment Facility
(GEF) outlined its Secretariat’s note on GEF activitiesin support of
the early implementation of the Convention (UNEP/ POPS/INC.7/
INF/11). The Basel Convention Secretariat outlined areas of coop-
eration between the Basel and Stockholm Convention Secretariats
and UNEP Chemicals, and called for financial support for POPs-
related activities. The Worldwide Fund for Nature highlighted its
ratification scorecard and noted itswork in the Africa Stockpile
Programme. Croplife International and the Chlorine Chemistry
Council noted the implementation activities of industry. The Inter-
national POPs Elimination Network commended GEF and UNEP
support for non-governmental organizations (NGO) involvement
in the Stockholm Convention’s activities.

ACTIVITIES OF THE SECRETARIAT AND REVIEW OF
THE SITUATION ASREGARDS EXTRABUDGETARY
FUNDS

In Plenary on Monday, Executive Secretary Willisintroduced:
the Secretariat’sdraft programme of work (PoW) and budget
(UNEP/POPS/INC.7/2); the contributions to the POPs Club
(UNEP/POPS/INC.7/INF/13); and UNEP' s POPs Capacity
Building Project (UNEP/POPS/INC.7/INF/29). Switzerland
announced its contribution for the case studies on regional centers.
Morocco and Uruguay appealed for financial assistancefor devel-
oping country participation.

To discussthe 2003-2005 budget and the budget format report,
del egates established a Budget Group, which met three times
during INC-7 and was chaired by Fernando L ugris (Uruguay).

On thereporting format, the Budget Group noted theimpor-
tance of budgeting as aplanning tool and stressed the need for:
transparency and clarity in reporting; flexibility inlight of the
budgetary uncertainties of theinterim period; prioritization of
activities, and information on total costsand revenues and the
distribution of funds between non-core and core activitiesto enable
better planning of donor contributions. Some delegates also noted
the need for highlighting the priority of feasibility and case studies
onregional centers.

Following the Budget Group's recommendations, the Secre-
tariat drafted both an expenditure line-based budget report for
2003-2005 based on the Montreal Protocol and Basel Convention
formats, and an activity-based budget breakdown based primarily
ontheformat agreed at INC-6. The Budget Group considered these
documents on Thursday, commending their usefulness and trans-
parency, and agreed to prepare adraft INC-7 decision approving a
line-based budget for 2003-2005.

On Friday, the Budget Group discussed the draft INC-7 deci-
sion (UNEP/POPS/INC.7/CRP.28) and proposed to add the estima-
tion of projected contributionsand a staff coststable. They also
suggested, inter alia, stressing the need to consider the budget
implications of the proposalsfor new activities under the Conven-
tionin order to encourage “financial discipling” and theflexibility
and transparency of the Secretariat’s activities.



Monday, 21 July 2003

Vol. 15 No. 81 Page 4

Delegates also considered the EU’s proposal to specify inthe
financial rulesathree-fund budget structure incorporating general,
special and supplementary trust funds, but recommended
addressing this proposal in Plenary.

In Plenary on Friday, del egates adopted the draft decision,
noting that the budget and staffing tableswill need to be adjusted in
light of new contributions, the INC-7 decision on the clearing-
house mechanism (CHM), and Canada's proposal to delete the text
on the developing and operating modalities of Capacity Assistance
Network (CAN) fromthelist of priorities.

Final Decision: Initsdecision (UNEP/POPS/INC.7/CRP.28),
the INC, inter alia:

» approvesthe staffing table and budget for 2003 and 2004-
2005;

« urgestheprovision of funding necessary to fully implement
the budget;

* notesthat, if insufficient resourcesarereceived, the Secretariat
will follow theprioritieslisted inthe PoW and priorities
containedin Annex |1 to the decision (budget breakdown by
general costsand outputs);

» agreesthat the Secretariat should havetheflexibility to shift
the date of COP-1if necessary;

* requeststhe Secretariat to devel op and present to COP-1the
cost analyses of each of the INC-7 proposalsto COP-1; and

* regueststhe Secretariat to devel op and provide abudget
presentation and format model for commentsby governments
and consideration by COP-1. Themodel should, inter alia,
provideaclear pictureof total costsand revenuesand appro-
priately report distribution of funds between general and
special accounts.

Thedecision containsin itsannexes: the programme staff and
standard staff coststables; the budget for 2004-2005; the PoW and
priorities; the budget breakdown by general costs and outputs; and
atable of donor contributionsfor POP negotiations.

PREPARATIONS FOR THE CONFERENCE OF THE
PARTIES

MEASURESTO REDUCE OR ELIMINATE RELEASES
FROM INTENTIONAL PRODUCTION AND USE AND
REGISTER OF SPECIFIC EXEMPTIONS: DDT: On
Wednesday in Plenary, del egates discussed a possible format for
reportingon DDT (UNEP/POPS/INC.7/3 and /4). South Africa, on
behalf of the African Group, noted the need for clarity on, inter
alia, training, management, compliance and monitoring. Delegates
urged rapid completion of thefield test of the reporting format, and
agreed that Parties should provide information using the revised
draft format six months prior to COP-1.

On Friday, the Secretariat presented adraft decision onthe
reporting format. South Africa proposed that the decision specifi-
cally invite not only the WHO, but all relevant countriesto partici-
patein information collection to assist COP-1 in itsevaluation of
the continued need for DDT for disease vector control. With this
amendment, the INC adopted the draft decision on Friday.

Final Decision: Initsfinal decision on DDT (UNEP/POPS/
INC.7/CRP.21), the INC requests the Secretariat to conduct field
tests of the draft reporting format by each party that usesDDT for
disease vector control (UNEP/POPS/INC.7/3, Annex I), and of the
draft questionnaire for users, producers, importers and exporters of
DDT (UNEP/POPS/INC.7/4, Annex I1). It instructs the Secretariat
to develop amodified format based on these field tests and through
consultation with expertsfor consideration and possible adoption

by COP-1. Thedecisioninvites Partiesto provideinformation on
DDT using the draft format and questionnaire no later than six
months before COP-1, requests the Secretariat to report on this
information, and invitesthe WHO and al relevant countriesto
participate actively in thiswork. It also decidesto submit to COP-1
the possibleinitial list of information items needed for the evalua-
tion of the continued need for DDT (Annex | to UNEP/POPS/
INC.7/4).

Register of Specific Exemptions: On Wednesday, the Secre-
tariat introduced its note on the register of specific exemptions
(UNEP/POPS/INC.7/5), with annexes containing: apossible
format for country reporting of requestsfor specific exemptions; a
possiblereview processfor entriesin the register of specific
exemptions; and arevised draft format of the register.

Switzerland and others supported the draft format for country
reporting and agreed that it should be used on aninterim basis.
Drawing attention to the Convention’s obj ectives, the EU under-
scored that extensions of exemptions should only be granted in
exceptional cases. Stating that the proposed format includes unnec-
essary elements, the US supported aminimal subset instead, under-
scoring that the format should facilitate reporting. A number of
delegates made proposals on additional elementsto beincludedin
thereporting format.

Regarding the possible review processfor entriesin the
register, the EU suggested, and delegates agreed, that Parties
should submit extension request reports at least 12 months before
the COPto allow amorethorough review, and because bilateral
cooperation may eliminate the need for an extension. China,
supported by Mexico and Ecuador, opposed establishing anew
expert group to review information. The EU proposed that the deci-
sion on whether to establish an expert group be deferred to COP-1.
Iran said the Secretariat should circulate the extension request
reportsto all Parties, but not observers. Kenya, supported by
Morocco, Mexico, Egypt and China, asked for arestriction on
possible observersin thereview process. Egypt and others opposed
text that statesthat, asfar as possible, information should be
submitted in English. Delegates agreed that the Secretariat should
provide information on the expected time and cost of translating
submissions received in other languages. Delegates also agreed on
theformat of theregister.

On Friday in Plenary, Chair Buccini introduced the draft deci-
sion on specific exemptions. The INC adopted thedecision and its
annexes with minor amendments, including an EU proposal that
countriesreguesting the extension of aspecific exemption be asked
to provideinformation on measuresthat could facilitate the with-
drawal of the exemption.

Final Decision: The decision (UNEP/POPS/INC.7/CRP.20/
Rev.1) submitsto COP-1 for consideration and possible decision: a
possibleformat for country reporting for requesting an extension of
aspecific exemption; possible optionsfor the review processfor
entriesin theregister of specific exemptions; and the draft format
for theregister. The INC also requeststhe Secretariat to establish a
provisional register, following the proposed draft format, until
thereisa COP decision on theregister’sformat.

Ontheformat for country reporting, countries are asked to
report on, inter alia:

* judtificationfor theexemption;

 existing national regulatory controls;

» monitoring and inspection activities,

» measuresthat could facilitate the withdrawal of the exemption;
» measuresto preventillegal production;



5 Earth NegotiationsBulletin
Vol. 15 No. 81 Page 5

Monday, 21 July 2003

« thenamesof companiesand/or institutionsauthorized to use
the substance; and

« information on alternatives and substitutes, including reasons
for not using alternatives.

The possiblereview process stipulatesthat Partieswishing to
submit arequest for an extension may submit areport to the Secre-
tariat, at least 12 months before the COP that takes place beforethe
expiry date, justifying its continuing need for the exemption. The
Secretariat shall then circulate the extension request report to al
Parties at least 11 months before the COPR, and request other infor-
mation relevant to the report to be submitted at least six months
before the COP. It was not agreed whether the extension request
reportswould be circulated to observers, nor whether information
should be submitted, asfar aspossiblein English, and thistext
remains bracketed. The decision statesthat the Secretariat shall
then collect, and transl ate as necessary, all availableinformation
and the extension request report; however, it was not agreed
whether the information and reports would be submitted to agroup
of expertsto be established by the COP and/or to all Parties, at least
five months before the COP.

Inthe next step of thereview process, thetext statesthat the
group of experts should meet at | east four months before the COP
to review the extension request report and other information and
develop recommendations to the COP. The Secretariat shall then
circulate the recommendation to all Parties no later than three
months before the COP. It was not agreed whether the recommen-
dationswould be circulated to observers. Finally, the COP shall
decide on therequest for an extension of an entry intheregister,
prior to the expiry date of the entry.

MEASURESTO REDUCE OR ELIMINATE RELEASES
FROM UNINTENTIONAL PRODUCTION: Guidelineson
BAT and guidance on BEP: On Thursday, the Secretariat outlined
thereport of thefirst session of the Expert Group on BAT-BEP held
in March 2003, in North Carolina, USA (UNEP/POPS/INC.7/6).
Expert Group Co-Chair Sergio Vives (Chile) noted progress made
towards devel oping recommendations on possible structure and
draft elementsfor BAT guidelines and BEP guidance. Canada
noted the importance of meeting challenges regarding the scope of
chemicalsto be addressed and the timing to have documents ready
for COP-1. Germany and Switzerland highlighted that each would
assist in sponsoring the Group's second session. The G-77/China
reguested that that all regions be represented in the Expert Group.

INC Chair Buccini asked the Secretariat to work with regional
groups to nominate replacement membersfor those who cannot
attend particular meetings. Egypt and others noted the need for
technical and financial assistance for implementing BAT-BEPin
developing countries. Togo urged aregional approach to theissue
of leaded gasoline usein Africa, and Chinaunderlined the need to
take into account differences among countriesin their abilitiesto
apply BAT-BEP. No decision was adopted on thisagendaitem.

Evaluation of current and proj ected releases of chemicals:
On Thursday in Plenary, the Secretariat introduced arevised stan-
dardized Toolkit for theidentification and quantification of dioxin
and furan rel eases (UNEP/POPS/INC.7/7 and INF/14). Argentina,
Ecuador and the EU stated that the Toolkit should be expanded to
cover al Annex C chemicals. TheUScalled for clarification onthe
processfor updating the Toolkit. Chile said the Toolkit does not
adequately reflect conditionsin devel oping countries. Many dele-
gates noted the need to systematically update the Toolkit to reflect
new scientific developments and the specific experiences of devel-
oping countries. Egypt, Togo and Uruguay requested field testsand

pilot projectsfor the further development of the Toolkit. The Secre-
tariat urged Partiesto provide financial resourcesto carry out more
national and regional projects. Tanzaniasaid the Toolkit does not
differentiate between controlled and non-controlled emissions, and
that theinformation required for estimating emissionsfrom some
sourcesisnot availablein developing countries. A decision was
adopted in Plenary on Friday.

Final Decision: The decision (UNEP/POPS/INC.7/CRP.24)
takes note of the standardized Toolkit asthe guidance for under-
taking release reporting pursuant to Article 5 (measuresto reduce
or eliminate unintentional production of POPS) of the Convention
and invites governments and othersto submit additional comments
and information and methodol ogies on other chemicals under
Article 5to the Secretariat by 31 March 2004. The decision
requeststhe Secretariat to prepare arevised version of the Toolkit
based on the submissionsthat it receivesfor consideration by COP-
1, and develop a proposal for COP-1 for the ongoing review and
updating of the Toolkit.

MEASURESTO REDUCE OR ELIMINATE RELEASES
FROM STOCKPILESAND WASTES: On Friday in Plenary,
delegates discussed the devel opment of technical guidelineson the
environmentally sound management of POP wastesin cooperation
with the Basel Convention (UNEP/POPS/INC.7/8 and INF/19).
Several delegates supported continued cooperation with the Basel
Conventioninitseffort to devel op technical guidelinesfor the
environmentally sound management of POP wastes. The EU
suggested that if the Basel Convention process does not compl ete
its guidelines on schedule, COP-1 should decide on interim
concentration limitsfor wastes regarding Annex A (elimination)
chemicals. The Basel Convention Secretariat provided an update
on effortsin its Open-Ended Working Group, and noted that no
further work would be conducted on dioxinsand furansin wastes
unless specifically requested by the Stockholm Convention. A
decision was adopted in Plenary on Friday.

Final Decision: Thefinal decision (UNEP/POPS/INC.7/
CRP.25) takes note of the progress under the Basel Convention and
requests the Stockholm Convention Secretariat to contributeto this
work. It encourages governments and stakehol dersto participate
actively inthe Basel Open-Ended Working Group, and urgesthis
group and the Basel Convention COP to completeitsguidelines
before COP-1.

IMPLEMENTATION PLANS: Interim NIP guidanceand
thereview and updating of NI Ps: On Tuesday, the Secretariat
outlined the devel opment of interim guidance on preparing NIPs
(UNEP/POPS/INC.7/9 and INF/20). The US noted that certain
aspects of the present guidance mischaracterize Convention obliga-
tions and supported revising the guidance. The EU, China, the
African Group and others stressed the need for flexibility inimple-
menting NIPs. Switzerland, the African Group and others under-
lined that the guidance should be a“living document” subject to
revision. Greenpeace International stressed the need to includein
NIPsthe prevention of unintentional POPs, and the Pesticide
Action Network of Latin Americaurged transparency and civil
society participation at all stages of NIP development.

On Tuesday, the Plenary addressed the review and updating of
NIPs. The Secretariat requested guidance on thetrigger for the
review and updating of NI1Ps (UNEP/POPS/INC.7/10), noting peri-
odic and “as needed” review and update options. Australia, China,
Brazil and others stressed that updating and review should be done
on an“asneeded” basis. Argentina stated that periodicity must be
defined by each country with the guidance of the Secretariat in



Monday, 21 July 2003

Vol. 15 No. 81 Page 6

consultation with governments. Chile and New Zealand empha-
sized that NI P timetables should dictate when reviews are neces-
sary. The EU said changesin obligations under the Convention
should be atrigger. Switzerland encouraged the Secretariat to
revisit theissue once practical experienceisgained. The Plenary
adopted adecision on Friday.

Final Decision: The decision (UNEP/POPS/INC.7/CRP.13)
reaffirmsthe need for guidance that is flexible and non-prescrip-
tive, and that takesinto account the different situations, needs and
experiences of countries. The INC endorses the interim guidance
(UNEP/POPS/INC.7/INF/20) and invites governments and other
organizationsto provide commentson it by 30 September 2003.
The Secretariat isrequested to prepare revised interim guidance by
31 December 2003, to be then considered by COP-1 and to develop
draft guidancefor areview and updating processthat could betrig-
gered by major changesin national circumstances, changesin obli-
gations under the Convention, or theinsufficiency of the existing
plan proven through practice.

LISTING OF CHEMICALSIN ANNEXESA,BAND C:
Thedraft terms of reference (TOR) for the POPs Review
Committee (POPRC) wasthe subject of lengthy Plenary discus-
sions on Tuesday, Wednesday and Friday. This matter was also
considered by asmall working group and by the LDG. The most
contentiousissuesraised by del egates related to means of ensuring
geographic representation and participation by non-Committee
members.

On Tuesday, the Secretariat reported on the POPRC draft ToR
(UNEP/POPS/INC.7/11) and thework of the INC-6 POPRC
contact group (UNEP/POPS/INC.6/22), noting outstanding i ssues
relating to the Committee’s composition, officers and finances.
Regarding the composition of the POPRC, the US, opposed by
Argentina, Iran and others, recommended using the FAO’smodel
of regional representation. In addition to equitable geographic
representation, Argentina, Australia, China, Kenya, Moldovaand
others specifically stressed the need for equitabl e representation
from devel oping countries and countries with economiesin transi-
tion (CEITS).

After asmall working group discussion on Tuesday, Canada
introduced arevised draft (UNEP/POPS/INC.7/CRP.11), which,
inter alia, clarified the distinction between “ designated experts’
and “invited experts.” Chile, with South Africa, expressed concern
at the number of observersthat could take part in POPRC meetings
and suggested that their participation be limited so as not to affect
the functioning of the group. Delegates agreed to forward their
guestions and the revised draft ToR tothe LDG.

On Wednesday in Plenary, GRULAC, supported by the African
Group and others, stated that, to be legitimate, the discussion on
geographic representation and managing observer participation
had to be carried out in Plenary, and not withinthe LDG.

On Friday, LDG Chair Anne Daniel (Canada) introduced the
revised draft ToR (UNEP/POPS/INC.7/CRP.22), explaining that,
under the draft Rules of Procedure of the COP: the POPRC shall be
open to observers, unless otherwise specified; Partiesto the
Convention not members of the POPRC are not considered
observers and there are no rules governing how they might take
part in meetings; geographic representation in the el ection of
officerswas aready taken into account; and the COP electsthe
POPRC Chair.

On Friday in Plenary, GRULAC, supported by Morocco,
emphasized the importance of simultaneousinterpretationin al
UN languages at POPRC meetings. INC Chair Buccini reminded

delegates of their INC-6 agreement to hold POPRC meetingsin
English, and the Dominican Republic highlighted that the authority
to decide on this matter restswith the COP. Chile suggested that
observer participation be upon invitation by the POPRC Chair.
India, with China, emphasized that the POPRC would benefit from
inviting expertsfrom major producer countries of the chemical
under review, noting theimportance of thisinclusion for theratifi-
cation process. The EU, with Jamaica, asked that gender be consid-
ered in appointing POPRC members, in accordance with the
WSSD Plan of Implementation.

INC Chair Buccini noted the changes proposed to the draft
ToR, and delegates agreed to request the Secretariat to develop a
new draft TOR with the LDG Chair, on the understanding that it
would be made availableintersessionally to facilitate national,
regional and inter-regional preparations prior to COP-1. No deci-
sion was adopted on thisagendaitem.

EXCHANGE OF INFORMATION: On Thursday in Plenary,
the Secretariat introduced itsnote on awork plan and budget for the
initiation and maintenance of aclearing-house mechanism (CHM)
for information exchange on POPs (UNEP/POPS/INC.7/12). The
USand others expressed concern with the doubling of the CHM
budget from 2003 to 2004. The EU supported only the proposed
analysis of existing elements and requirements, suggested the
budget be adjusted accordingly, and warned against duplication of
effortswith those of other mechanisms. Canada, with Norway,
called for discussing at COP-1 the overlap between the CHM and
activitiesfor technical assistance. Egypt asked to ensurethat the
CHM functioninall UN languages. Chinaemphasized the need to
support devel oping countriesin establishing their national CHMSs.
Chilestated it attached great importance to theinclusion of tech-
nical and financial assistance sources.

Delegatesresumed their discussion in Plenary on Friday, when
the Secretariat clarified the scope of information envisaged for the
CHM, highlighting areas not covered under the current structure
and the benefits of expanding the CHM, noted the budget implica-
tions of expanding operationsto all UN languages, and explained
that much of the projected budget increase arose from adding apost
for afull-time manager. After some discussion, del egates autho-
rized aone-time budget increase for one dedicated CHM staff
member for 2005. No decision was adopted on this agendaitem.

TECHNICAL ASSISTANCE: On Tuesday, the Secretariat
introduced its notes on guidance on technical assistance (UNEP/
POPS/INC.7/13), thefeasibility and case studies on regional and
subregiona centers (UNEP/POPS/INC.7/14 and 15), and submis-
sionsin responseto INC-6 decisionsrel ating to technical assistance
(UNEP/POPS/INC.7/16), noting that recently pledged funds will
activate postponed work on feasibility and case studies of regional
and subregional centers.

Several delegates stressed the need for synergieswith the Basel
Convention Regional Centers. Colombiaand others recommended
strengthening existing regional centers, while Brazil suggested
expanding the feasibility study to include new centers. Saint Lucia
called for synergieswith UNIDO Cleaner Production Centers.
Canadarecommended, inter alia, that the feasibility of a capacity
assistance network (CAN) needsto be established before any deci-
sion on whether and how to support it can be made, and that links
between CAN and other networks should be explored through the
feasibility study. Italy, Chile and Egypt stressed therole of NIPsin
identifying prioritiesfor technical assistance.



5 Earth NegotiationsBulletin
Vol. 15 No. 81 Page 7

Monday, 21 July 2003

Underscoring that regional centersare only one of many
possible mechanisms for technical assistance, Chile, supported by
Morocco and others, highlighted the need to identify mechanisms
for providing technical assistance. The African Group said that the
means of implementation are not properly addressed in the Secre-
tariat’s note on guidance on technical assistance and suggested
creating aworking group to commence immediately and continue
intersessionally. Several countries opposed the idea of the working
group, with some del egates noting difficultiesfor small delegations
to attend parallel meetings during the INC and others remarking on
the costs of holding intersessional meetings. Consensus on the
creation of the group was not reached.

In Plenary on Friday, delegates adopted the draft decision on
technical assistance with an amendment that case studies should
include aregional center from each region subject to the avail-
ability of financial resources, and other editorial changes.

Final Decision: The decision on technical assistance (UNEP/
POPS/INC.7/CRP.12) notesthelist of some common el ements of
technical assistance needs and priorities (UNEP/POPS/INC.7/13)
andinvitesgovernmentstoidentify additional areasandissues. The
decision requeststhe Secretariat to prepare draft guidance on tech-
nical assistancefor consideration and possible decision by COP-1
based on, inter alia, the comments by INC-7 and governments
submissions.

The decision further notesthe ToR for thefeasibility study on
regional and subregional centers (UNEP/POPS/INC.7/14), and
regueststhe Secretariat to report on the results of thefeasibility and
case studiesto COP-1. The decision specifiesthat the studiesbe
undertaken subject to receipt of funds.

FINANCIAL RESOURCESAND MECHANISMS: In
Plenary on Thursday, the Secretariat introduced its collection of
information from relevant funding institutions on waysinwhich
they can support the Stockholm Convention (UNEP/POPS/INC.7/
18) and the note on guidance to the financial mechanism (UNEP/
POPS/INC.7/17).

Welcoming the designation of POPs asanew GEF focal area,
the EU called for astrong partnership between the Stockholm
Convention and the GEF. The G-77/Chinacalled for acredible and
flexiblefinancial mechanism.

Discussing theissues of éligibility for GEF funding and priori-
ties, the EU called for consideration of the prioritiesidentified in
NIPsand stressed that CEITs should be éligible for GEF funding.
On dligibility, the G-77/Chinanoted the relevance of the Intergov-
ernmental Forum on Chemical Safety’sBahiaDeclaration on
Chemical Safety. The EU and otherssaid it would belegally inap-
propriatefor the INC to formally provide interim guidanceto the
GEF, and recommended that the INC only convey itsviewson
actionstaken and proposed. The US recommended deferring
detailed discussion on eligibility until COP-1.

The Secretariat introduced adraft ToR for the review of the
financial mechanism (UNEP/POPS/INC.24). The EU and others
recommended addressing theissue at COP-1, and the US encour-
aged collaboration with the GEF on thisissue. Delegates agreed to
submit comments on the draft ToR to the Secretariat by the end of
2003 and review theissue at COP-1.

On guidanceto thefinancial mechanism, the EU, supported by
the US and others, proposed that the Secretariat, with the GEF
Secretariat’s assistance, produce a paper on guidance to be worked
on by acontact group at COP-1. The G-77/Chinaproposed estab-
lishing an intersessional working group on thisissue.

Delegates agreed to establish a contact group, co-chaired by
LindaBrown (UK) and I brahima Sow (Senegal), to explorethe
modalities of the consultation process for devel oping guidance.
The contact group met twice, on Thursday evening and Friday
morning, and agreed on the need for an intersessional working
group. They decided that the Secretariat, with GEF assistance, will
prepare a substantive document asabasisfor discussions and that
theinitial comments on this document will be provided electroni-
cally, but aface-to-face meeting may also be needed.

On representation in the working group, devel oping countries
suggested regionally based nomination of participants, while
devel oped countries advocated open participation. Developing
countriesreiterated the need for the working group to meet
intersessionally. Devel oped countries advocated conducting the
meeting two days prior to COP-1 to minimize the associated costs.
Switzerland expressed itswillingnessto support aface-to-face
meeting. Theseissueswere addressed in asmall group established
by the contact group to draft acompromise proposal on the
working group.

In Plenary on Friday, Co-Chair Brown presented the contact
group’ s submission on the modalities of the working group (UNEP/
POPS/INC.7/CRP.27), noting that the i ssues of appointing the
working group’s co-chairs and scheduling its meeting remained
outstanding dueto lack of time. Stressing theimportance of the
guidanceto the financial mechanism, Co-Chair Brown suggested
that COP-1 addressthisitem at an early stage. Reiterating the need
for aface-to-face meeting, the G-77/Chinacalled for donors
assistanceto thisend. Mexico supported the proposal to minimize
costs by holding the meeting prior to COP-1.

Regarding the nomination of the working group co-chairs, INC
Chair Buccini suggested, and del egates agreed, that Bureau
members and the INC Chair consider nominations provided by the
regions and propose the working group’s co-chairsin late 2003.

The decision on the financial mechanism, incorporating the
submission by the contact group, was adopted by Plenary on
Friday.

Final Decision: Initsdecision on the financial mechanism
(UNEP/POPS/INC.7/CRP.27 and 29), the INC requests the GEF
to, inter alia: notethe INC’sview that eligibility for financial
support for activities under the Convention should follow the
following principles:

« support should be availableto devel oping country and CEIT
Parties;

« for enabling activities, developing country and CEIT signa-
toriesshould also beeligible; and

* developing countriesand CEl Tsare defined asthose countries
that areeligibleunder GEF criteria.

In the decision, the INC also:

« welcomesthestrategic prioritiesfor POPsidentified inthe
GEF strategic business plan for 2004-2006;

* regueststhe GEFto maintainitsfocuson the Convention’s
obligationsand the prioritiesidentified in NI Ps;

* reguestsgovernmentsand observersto providecommentson
theelementsof the ToR for thereview of thefinancia
mechanism (UNEP/POPS/INC.7/24) by 31 December 2003;
and

* regueststhe Secretariat, with the GEF assistance, to develop a
draft ToR for consideration by COP-1.

Thedecision further initiates an open-ended working group to
prepare the guidance to the financial mechanism and statesthat it
will: be open to participation by intergovernmental organizations,



Monday, 21 July 2003

Vol. 15 No. 81 Page 8

industry and NGOsin accordance with the ECOSOC rules; start its
work on the basis of the paper that will be prepared by the Stock-
holm Convention Secretariat in cooperation with the GEF; and
provide commentsto the Secretariat’s paper by 31 May 2004.

After the electronic consultation phase, subject to available
funding, there may be aface-to-face meeting of the working group,
thetime and venue of which to be decided by the working group.

Thedecision a so urgesfunding for working group activities,
including assistance to enable devel oping country and CEIT dele-
gatesto participate.

INTERIM FINANCIAL ARRANGEMENTS: InPlenary on
Thursday, Executive Secretary Willisintroduced adraft Memo-
randum of Understanding (MoU) between the Stockholm Conven-
tion and the GEF Council (UNEP/POPS/INC.7/16).

The G-77/Chinarequested that theinterim nature of the GEF as
afinancia mechanism be emphasized. The Asiaand Pacific Group
suggested that the GEF consider greater flexibility in project
financing and simplified project approval proceduresand
suggested that the COP periodically eval uate devel oping countries
needs and submit them to the GEF Assembly for consideration. On
Friday, the INC adopted itsfinal decision onthe MoU.

Final Decision: The decision (UNEP/POPS/INC.7/CRP.23)
takes note of the draft MoU between the Stockholm Convention
COP and the GEF Council (UNEP/POPS/INC.7/16) and invites
Governments and the GEF Council to provide comments on the
MoU by 31 December 2003. It requests the Stockholm Convention
Secretariat, in collaboration with the GEF Secretariat, to preparea
revised MoU taking into account these comments and submit the
revised draft for consideration and possible decision by COP-1 and
the GEF Council.

REPORTING: In Plenary on Wednesday, the Secretariat
presented submissionsreceived in response to requestsfor infor-
mation contained in anumber of INC-6 decisions (UNEP/ POPS/
INC.7/INF/16) and its note on the format and timing of Party
reporting (UNEP/POPS/INC.7/19). The note contains, inter alia, a
draft reporting format and a suggestion for the format’sfield
testing, and proposes that Parties submit thefirst report to COP-3
and every four yearsthereafter.

Several delegates supported the suggested reporting format and
timing, with some emphasi zing the need to ensure compatibility,
efficiency and concisenessin reporting. The EU recommended that
conducting the field tests should not have significant financial
implications. The Gambia stressed the need for field testing. Egypt
highlighted the need for technical assistancein measuring dioxin
and furan rel eases. M orocco suggested addressing the obligations
related to BAT-BEP. Japan expressed concern with the reporting
items pertaining to Article 5 (Measuresto reduce or eliminate
releases from unintentional production), and the Secretariat clari-
fied that theseitems do not create new reporting obligations, but
help measure progress toward the minimization of unintentionally
produced POPs, provided that the relevant information isavailable.

Chair Buccini noted general support for the proposed timing
and reporting format. Heinvited further submissions on the Secre-
tariat’snote, and clarified that the field test report and therevisions
to the draft format based on the field test resultswill be submitted
for consideration by COP-1. Thefinal decision wasadoptedin
Plenary on Friday, with an amendment by the EU inviting Govern-
mentsto volunteer for field testsin light of the need to minimize
budget implications.

Final Decision: Thefinal decision (UNEP/POPS/INC.7/
CRP.19) on Party reporting notes the draft model format (UNEP/
POPS/INC.7/19), asamended by INC-7, and requests the Secre-
tariat to field test the model and submit areport to COP-1 on the
experience, aswell astherevised model format based on thefield
test results.

EFFECTIVENESSEVALUATION: On Friday, the Secre-
tariat presented itswork on, inter alia: the development of guid-
ance on the nature of effectiveness evaluation; the identification of
the basic data needed to support effectiveness evaluation; the
assessment of the capacity of existing monitoring programmes; and
theidentification of where suitable monitoring dataare not avail-
able (UNEP/POPS/INC.7/20). He noted the outcome of the UNEP
Workshop to Devel op a Global POPs Monitoring Programme, held
inMarch 2003 (UNEP/POPS/INC.7/INF/10), which recommended
that asubsidiary body be established to oversee effectivenesseval -
uations, striving for simplicity and based on existing programmes.

Japan requested the Secretariat to prepare areport on therela-
tionship between environmental monitoring at national, regional
and global levels. Egypt stressed the need to adopt a specific and
field-tested scientific methodology. The US expressed concern
about cost implications of the effectiveness evaluation activities,
especialy if asubsidiary body is created. The EU and the Gambia
noted that the effectiveness eval uation isimportant, but that there
are greater prioritiesthat must be addressed under the Convention.
On Friday in Plenary, delegates adopted adecision on effectiveness
evaluation.

Final Decision: The decision (UNEP/POPS/INC.7/CRP.26)
confirmsthe need to provide comparable dataon chemicalslisted
in Annexes A, B, and C of the Convention and requests the Secre-
tariat to prepare areport for COP-1 on effectiveness eval uation
with comparable monitoring data on the presence of these chemi-
calsaswell astheir regional and global transport.

NON-COMPLIANCE: On Monday, the Secretariat intro-
duced asynthesis of views on non-compliance (UNEP/POPS/
INC.7/21) and an overview of non-compliance regimesin multilat-
eral environmental agreements (UNEP/POPS/INC.7/22). Canada,
Switzerland and the EU emphasized their support for the early
devel opment of acompliance mechanism. New Zealand, supported
by Australia, Argentina, Chile, Colombiaand Egypt, suggested that
theissue be addressed after the Convention entersinto force. The
USand Australiarecommended, and delegates agreed, that the
LDG discusscomplianceif timeallows, but focusfirst on priority
issues, including financial rulesand rules of procedure.

On Wednesday morning in Plenary, the LDG announced it had
sufficient timefor acontact group on non-compliance. GRULAC,
with China, requested that INC-7 concentrate instead on issues
such asthefinancial mechanism, technical assistance and tech-
nology transfer. China, with Cuba, Egypt and others, stressed that
discussing non-compliance prior to the Convention’s entry into
force would be premature. Switzerland and the EU emphasized the
benefit of exchanging views on non-compliancein an open discus-
sion. Upon resuming discussion on thisissuein Plenary on
Wednesday afternoon, Morocco, on behalf of G-77/China, stated
that discussion on non-compliance should be postponed until COP-
1. Georgia, on behalf of Eastern European countries, stressed the
importance of creating complianceincentives. Canadaacknowl-
edged that non-complianceis often dueto alack of capacity and
underscored that non-compliance should be a priority issuefor
INC-7 and beyond.



5 Earth NegotiationsBulletin
Vol. 15 No. 81 Page 9 -

Monday, 21 July 2003

On Friday, Georgia, on behalf of Canada, the EU and others,
spoke of the critical importance of compliance and the need to
provide amechanism that would formul ate appropriate responses
to non-compliance, including advice and technical assistance. They
urged afull and constructive discussion of theissueat COP-1. No
decision was adopted on thisagendaitem.

SETTLEMENT OF DISPUTES: In Plenary on Monday, the
Secretariat introduced its note on draft rules of arbitration and
conciliation (UNEP/POPS/INC.7/27). Delegates agreed to refer
thisissuedirectly tothe LDG. On Thursday, LDG Chair Daniel
reported to Plenary that it had completed its assigned work, and on
Friday, sheintroduced to Plenary draft dispute settlement ruleson
arbitration and conciliation. Regarding the draft Rules of Arbitra-
tion, Daniel noted drafting issues regarding the powers of the
tribunal on interim measures of protection and detailed the legal
implicationsfor Partiesto consider at COP-1. On the draft Rules of
Conciliation, Daniel noted that the size of the conciliation commis-
sion remained unresolved. Delegates agreed that, for cost consider-
ations, each Party shall appoint one member to the conciliation
commission. Delegates agreed to forward the draft Ruleson Arbi-
tration and draft Rules on Conciliation, asamended, to COP-1 for
consideration and possible decision. No decision was adopted on
thisagendaitem.

DRAFT RULESOF PROCEDURE FOR THE CONFER-
ENCE OF THE PARTIES: On Monday, the Secretariat intro-
duced its note on the COP' s draft rules of procedure (UNEP/POPS/
INC.7/25), highlighting the need for policy decisions on unre-
solved issues, including: participation of specialized agenciesand
non-Parties; the election of officers; voting in subsidiary bodies;
and the order of voting on proposals. LDG Chair Daniel proposed,
and delegates agreed, that the LDG work to reduce the number of
outstanding issues.

On Friday, LDG Chair Daniel presented to Plenary the draft
ruleson, inter alia, COP and subsidiary body meetings; participa-
tion of observers; election of officers; and voting (UNEP/POPS/
INC.7/CRP.14 and Add.1). She said the text relating to participa-
tion of observers and the procedure for objecting to their presence
remained bracketed, noting that this policy decision should be
addressed by the COP. The bracketed text statesthat at |east 30
days before the meeting, the Secretariat shall notify Parties of any
body or agency seeking to be represented at the meeting. These
bodies or agencies may be admitted to attend unless at | east one-
third of the Parties present at the meeting object. Delegates agreed
to submit the draft rulesfor consideration to COP-1. No decision
was adopted on thisagendaitem.

Draft Financial Rulesfor the COP, itssubsidiary bodiesand
the Convention Secretariat: On Monday, the Secretariat intro-
duced anote on draft financial rulesfor the COP, its subsidiary
bodies and the Secretariat (UNEP/POPS/INC.7/26). LDG Chair
Daniel recommended, and del egates agreed, to refer thisissue
directly tothe LDG. In Plenary on Friday, Daniel presented draft
financial rules (UNEP/POPS/INC.7/CRP.16), noting an
outstanding policy issue concerning contributions by Parties. The
EU proposed that the budget group review therules. The US and
Canadaurged deleting text on how the resources of the COP shall
be comprised, noting that contributions are voluntary. Del egates
agreed to submit the rulesto COP-1 with the amendment proposed
by the EU. A decision was adopted in Plenary on Friday.

Final Decision: The decision (UNEP/POPS/INC.7/CRP.16)
setsout rulesthat provide for the establishment of a General Trust
Fund for the Convention and a Specia Trust Fund to support partic-
ipation of devel oping countriesand CEITs at COP and subsidiary
body meetings.

ISSUESRELATING TO THE STOCKHOLM CONVEN-
TION NOT COVERED ABOVE: Exempted use: On Friday,
Australia, Canadaand New Zealand introduced a proposal (UNEP/
POPS/INC.7/CRP.15) on the exemption review process, which
encourages Partiesto collaborate and exchangeinformation to
reduce and eliminate the exempted use of POPs chemicals, asksthe
Secretariat tofacilitatethis, and requeststhe Convention’sfinancial
mechanismsto take into account the need to fund projectson this
topic. The African Group added language on the need to assist
Partieswith limited capabilities, where appropriate. Chinaobjected
to the request for the financial mechanism to fund such projects,
noting that thiswould be difficult without amultilateral fund such
asthe Montreal Protocol funding mechanism. Delegates agreed to
the proposal, as amended by the African Group and China, and
with minor amendments by Australiaand New Zealand.

Final Decision: The decision (UNEP/POPS/INC.7/CRP.15):

* encourages Partiesto pursuevoluntary initiativesto support,
collaborate and undertake work to help reduce or eliminatethe
exempted use of POPschemicals;

 encourages Partieswith specific exemptionsto take early steps
to exchangeinformation, seek technical assistancewhere
appropriate and shareinformation;

* urgesassistanceto thosewith limited capabilities, where
appropriate; and

* requeststhe Secretariat to identify needsand possible case
studieson exempted uses, utilizing appropriate mechanisms.
Cooperation with the WTO: On Friday in Plenary, Canada

introduced a proposed INC decision (UNEP/POPS/INC.6/CRP.6/
Rev.1) requesting the Secretariat to cooperate with the World Trade
Organization (WTO). The proposal requeststhat the Secretariat
seek observer statusin the WTO Committee on Trade and Environ-
ment and asks the Secretariat to report on meetings and consulta-
tionswiththe WTO. Argentina, Ecuador, Venezuelaand Egypt
objected to the proposed decision, arguing that it was premature.
TheINC took no action on the proposal .

MoU with theWHO: On Friday in Plenary, the Secretariat
announced amemorandum of understanding (MoU) withthe WHO
to support effortsto control malaria.

OTHER ISSUESFOR CONSIDERATION BY COP-1:

L ocation of the Secretariat: On Tuesday, delegates heard presen-
tationsin Plenary from those countries offering to host the perma-
nent Secretariat, namely: Germany (UNEP/POPS/INC.7/INF/3
and CRP7); Italy (UNEP/POPS/INC.7/INF/5 and CRP.8); and
Switzerland (UNEP/POPS/INC.7/4 and CRP4). Delegates agreed
toforward thisissueto COP-1 and requested the Secretariat to
prepare atable comparing the offers. A decision was adopted inthe
Plenary on Friday.

Final Decision: Thedecision (UNEP/POPS/INC.7/CRP.10)
welcomesthe offersto host the permanent Secretariat and directs
the submission of the offersfor possible consideration by COP-1. It
also requeststhe Secretariat to prepare acomparative analysis of
the offersfrom Switzerland, Italy and Germany.



Monday, 21 July 2003

Vol. 15 No. 81 Page 10

Liability and Redress: The Secretariat introduced thereport of
the Workshop on Liability and Redress (UNEP/POPS/INC.7/INF/
6), held in Vienna, Austria, from 19-21 September 2002. He noted
that the report would be considered by COP-1 with aview to
deciding further action.

CLOSING PLENARY

On Friday afternoon, delegates considered and adopted, with
the minor amendments, the report of the meeting (UNEP/POPS/
INC.7/L.1and Add.1), including all draft decisions.

In hisclosing remarks, Chair Buccini noted that it had not been
an easy week, but a successful one. Noting that this should be the
last of agood string of meetings throughout the INC process,
Buccini said the Stockholm Conventionisaswell positioned asone
could expect given the nature and compl exity of theissues. Many
delegatesthanked Switzerland, the Secretariat and Chair Buccini,
noting the Chair’s excellent work. Greenpeace | nternational
commended the constructive spirit throughout the meeting, noting
the substantive nature of the outcomes and the importance of
substitution and of elimination of unintentional POPs. GRULAC
thanked Switzerland for agreeing at INC-6 to finance COP-1in
Uruguay.

Chair Buccini thanked delegatesfor eight years of enjoyable
work, noting the good will among colleagues. Hethanked NGOs
for encouraging del egatesto keep going in the direction that they
are headed, remarking that Greenpeace | nternational’s comments
earlier provide ameasuring stick for delegatesto liveup to. He
noted the need for engagement of all sectors of society for the
Convention to work. Buccini emphasized his pride in being associ-
ated with what has been accomplished and thanked the Secretariat,
the Bureau, the Executive Secretary, and hisfamily for their
support. Chair Buccini gaveled the meeting to aclose at 7:56 pm.

A BRIEF ANALYSISOF INC-7

Theimportance of POPsasaglobal priority wasreaffirmed last
year, through anumber of POPs-related decisionstaken at the
World Summit on Sustainable Development (WSSD), and through
the Global Environment Facility’s (GEF) decision to include POPs
asanew focal area. Now, thanksto widespread commitment from
developed and devel oping countries alike to protect human health
and the environment from POPs, there has been amarked increase
in the number of ratifications since INC-6, and many other coun-
triesare undergoing the process of ratification. Asaresult, the
Convention is expected to enter into force by 2004, with thefirst
meeting of the Conference of the Parties (COP) likely to be held in
2005.

Thus, as del egates gathered for what islikely to betheir last
meeting as an Intergovernmental Negotiating Committee, they
focused on wrapping up anumber of “housekeeping” issuesin
preparation for thefirst COP, including devel oping rules of proce-
dure and financial rulesfor the COP, clarifying dispute settlement
rules, elaborating reporting formats and considering offersto host
the permanent secretariat. However, INC-7 a so provided the
opportunity for delegatesto dig their teeth into some of the more
complex and contentiousissuesthat will need to be considered as
the Stockholm Convention entersinto force, such asthefinancia
mechanism, terms of reference for the POPs Review Committee
(POPRC) and non-compliance.

Throughout most of INC-7, veterans of the POPs process were
quick toremark ontherelativetranquility of the proceedings, citing
asevidencethelack of contact groups, late night sessions, or buzz

of conversation in the corridors. Events of thefirst few days of
INC-7 even seemed to indicate areluctance to tackle the “ big"
issues, as proposal sto establish aworking group on technical assis-
tance and a contact group on non-compliance were vigorously shot
down by opposing forces. However, just when it appeared that
delegates had resigned themselvesto merely forward most of the
contentiousissuesto COP-1, avivid debate on guidance for the
financial mechanism signal ed a shift of gearson Thursday, asdele-
gates met in an evening contact group to elaborate on two
competing proposalsfor the consultation processon thisissue. By
the end of the meeting on Friday, delegates had dealt with all the
issuesin the Chair’s programme of work and had, in fact, taken a
necessary step toward implementation by laying the groundwork
for the successful administration of the Convention.

HOUSEKEEPING

Following aweek of work by the Legal Drafting Group (LDG),
delegates were ableto forward to COP-1, with few remaining
outstanding issues, draft rules of procedure, draft financial rules
and draft rules of arbitration and conciliation. Review by the LDG
also alowed for clarification of the draft terms of reference of the
POPs Review Committee, thus allowing aclear focus on key polit-
ical decisionsat COP-1.

Thediscussion on the Toolkit for identifying and quantifying
dioxin and furan rel eases showcased its success for some devel-
oping countries and countries with economiesin transitionin
creating preliminary inventories of dioxin and furan. Environ-
mental NGOswere particularly satisfied that the dioxin toolkit will
be revised and include asourceidentification strategy.

HOME ECONOMICS

Ashasbeenthe casenot only in previous INCs, but alsoin most
other multilateral environmental agreements, matters of technical
assistance and financing were the focus of agreat deal of attention
—with adivide arising in many cases between devel oping and
donor countries.

Delegates, from devel oping countriesin particular, were opti-
mistic upon hearing that funding had finally been secured to
conduct thefeasibility and case studies on regional and subregional
centers, asthiswork promisesto generate a useful basisfor action
at COP-1. Beyond the potential benefits of providing technical
assistance through these centers, delegates are eager to confirm
whether existing centerswill benefit from thisflow of resources, or
whether thisinflux will flow towardsthe creation of new centers.
Asopinionsare split on thisissue, countries hoping to host one of
these centerswill haveto wait for the issue to be addressed by
COP-1.

Delegates experienced difficultiesin reaching consensus on the
need for intersessional work in preparation for COP-1. On tech-
nical assistance, some devel oping countrieswere stymied in their
effortsto even create aworking group to meet at INC-7, let alone
intersessionally. They were unabl e to gather the necessary support
for their working group proposal, with other devel oping countries
noting the constraints on small delegationsat INC-7, and devel-
oped countries highlighting the cost implications of intersessional
work. Similarly, draft guidance on the financial mechanismwasa
bone of contention and the focus of alively contact group where
donor and devel oping countries struggled to see eye-to-eyeon
modalitiesfor an intersessional consultation process on thisissue.
In the end, delegates reached acompromise, agreeing to interses-
sional electronic consultations, and apossible face-to-face meeting
immediately prior to COP-1, subject to available funding.



5 Earth NegotiationsBulletin
Voal. 15 No. 81 Page 11

Monday, 21 July 2003

Conflicts over the establishment of intersessional work are
perhapsindicative of an overarching challengefor the INC. The
interim processisrelying on voluntary contributions until the
Convention’sentry into force, and the budget implications of
intersessional work, and of topics presented to Plenary over the
week, brought out the need for del egatesin the Budget Group to
differentiate prioritiesin allocating funds. Thisbudget crunchis
perhaps best illustrated by the fact that the Secretariat 1acked the
resourcesto carry out all the requests set out by INC-6. Thereis
even a sentiment among some del egates that since thefinancial
responsibilities of the Convention have been granted to an outside
entity such asthe GEF, the POPs processislosing access to many
of the monetary resourcesthat might have facilitated greater
progressin the earlier stages of the negotiation process. This
concernover limited resourceswas al so reflected in the importance
granted to prioritization in approving the Secretariat’'s Budget and
Programme of Work for 2003-5. Delegates agreed that in the
future, proposed actionswould be presented with acost analysis.

BUILDING AN ADDITION

INC-7 was also the stage of extensive discussions on the draft
Terms of Reference of the POPs Review Committee, which, once
established, will play acrucial roleinthelisting of new POPs regu-
lated by the Convention. With the help of the LDG, and through
extensive negotiationsin Plenary, del egates were ableto make
some headway in resolving some of theissues outstanding from
INC-6, notably on conflict-of-interest and el ection of officers.
However, the disagreements on geographic representation high-
lighted previously in the INC-6 POPRC contact group cameto the
foreand will likely generate further discussion at COP-1 asdele-
gateswill need to reach agreement on the method through which to
achieve this geographic representation. At the close of INC-6, dele-
gates had yet to agree on whether the POPRC memberswould be
divided among thefive UN regional groups. At INC-7 therewasan
additional proposal to distribute members according tothe FAO’s
seven regions, while others called for further examining of yet
other regional groupings. Surprisingly, someissues presumably
resolved at INC-6 were re-opened as devel oping country partici-
pants raised concerns on observer participation and the need for
simultaneousinterpretationinall UN languages at all POPRC
meetings.

HOUSE RULES

A big surprise and disappointment for anumber of developed
countrieswas the unwillingness of othersto engagein aprelimi-
nary exchange of views on the non-compliance mechanism. By
mid-week, after thefailureto create atechnical assistance working
group, devel oping countries made it known that they were firmly
entrenched in their position that technical and financial matters
should be addressed prior to non-compliance. While some have
noted that the Basel Convention did not develop acompliance
regime until adecade after itsentry into force, others seethisratio-
nale asacause for alarm, highlighting the complexity of thisissue
and the need to get an early head start so that all perspectivesare
aired. Nevertheless, discussion on non-compliance was postponed.

CLOSING THE SHUTTERS

Environmental NGOsin particular expressed concern at discus-
sionsto include constraints on observer participation, both inthe
draft Rules of Procedure for the COP and the draft Terms of Refer-
encefor the POPRC, underscoring that this setsabad precedent in
the post-Johannesburg climate, which was supposed to exemplify

openness and transparency. In aprocesswhere even the INC Chair
acknowledged the key role environmental NGOs have played
throughout its history, it will be necessary to closely monitor
further developmentson thisissue.

OPEN HOUSE

Based on this meeting, the POPs house appearsto bein order.
The presence of astrong Chair, committed del egates and active
NGO participation at the meeting may have played an important
rolein these devel opments. Asthe Convention entersinto force,
successwill be greatly dependent on theinterplay between efforts
at implementation and i ssues such as sustainable production and
consumption. Asthe Chair noted in hisclosing remarks, it will take
engagement of all sectors of society to make the Convention work.

TODOLIST

If ratification progresses according to expectations, this
meeting marked thelast INC and the end of theinterim phase of the
POPsregime. INC-7 achieved significant progressin ironing out
the necessary detailsfor COP-1, and was able to begin adialogue
on many key issuesthat will need to be dealt with rapidly upon
entry into force, including the POPRC and the financial mecha-
nism. On the other hand, INC-7 has dispatched anumber of the
most controversial issuesto the COP, and COP-1 will not have an
easy task resolving these matters. With the Conventioninforce, the
relative negotiating power of Parties versus non-Parties may alter
the dynamicsof the process, potentially making consensuseasier to
achieve. Nevertheless, it may be necessary for some sort of prepa-
ratory meeting to convenein order to provide the COPwith a
cleaner package for adoption. INC Chair Buccini’s poignant
closing address highlighted the progress achieved since INC-1 and
delegates | eft Genevawith afeeling of optimism asthe Stockholm
Convention entersinto its next phase.

Whileit is possible that the Convention might enter into force
by the end of theyear, it ismore likely that the 50th ratification will
be received in 2004 and COP-1 will take placein 2005. Although
some may be concerned about a potential |oss of momentum in the
two years before the COP, there are strong signsthat this energy
will be sustained in other ways, as money comesin from the GEF
and other sourcesto fund NIPsand other action on the ground. In
the intervening period between INC-7 and COP-1, the progress of
other chemical's processes, and the upcoming PrepCom for the
Strategic Approach to International Chemicals Management
(SAICM) may all contributeto significantly altering dynamics of
the POPs regime prior to meeting again at COP-1in Uruguay!

THINGSTO LOOK FOR

DIOXIN 2003: The 23rd International Symposium on Haloge-
nated Organic and Persistent Organic Pollutantsis scheduled for
24-29 August 2003, in Boston, Massachusetts, USA. For more
information, contact: LauraBiringer, Conference Secretariat; tel:
+1-617-262-3424; fax: +1-617-262-3387; e-mail:
Ibiringer@mpwi.org; Internet: http://www.dioxin2003.0rg

SOCIETY FOR ENVIRONMENTAL TOXICOLOGY
AND CHEMISTRY (SETAC) ASIA/PACIFIC MEETING:
The SETAC Asia/lPacific meeting is scheduled for 28 August - 1
September 2003, in Christchurch, New Zealand. With atheme of
“Solutionsto Pollution,” this conference aimsto find practical
solutionsto environmental issuesfacing the Asia/Pacific region.


http://www.dioxin2003.org

Monday, 21 July 2003

Vol. 15 No. 81 Page 12

For moreinformation, contact: Sue Scobie; e-mail:
sue.scobie@ermanz.govt.nz; Internet: http://www.ecotox.org.au/
nz2003

JOINT FAO-WHO MEETING ON PESTICIDE RESI -
DUES: The 28th session of the FAO Panel of Expertson Pesticide
Residuesin Food and Environment and the WHO Expert Group on
Pesticides Residues (IMPR) will meet from 15-24 September
2003, in Geneva, Switzerland. For moreinformation, contact:
AmeliaTgjada, FAO; tel: +39-6-5705-4010; fax: +39-6-5705-
6347; e-mail: ameliatejada@fao.org; Internet: http://www.fao.org/
wai cent/faoinfo/agricult/agp/agpp/pesticid/events/c.htm

GEF DEVELOPMENT OF NIPs. The GEF Development of
National Implementation Plansfor the Management of POPsin 12
Pilot Countriesistentatively scheduled for 22-26 September 2003,
in Bulgaria. A second meeting istentatively scheduled for
December 2003 in Chile. For moreinformation, contact: Jim
Willis, UNEP Chemicals; tel: +41-22-917-8111; fax: +41-22-797-
3460; e-mail: chemicals@unep.ch; Internet: http://
www.chem.unep.ch/pops/newlayout/calendar_of events.htm

WEST ASIAN AND EASTERN MEDITERRANEAN
SUB-REGIONAL WORKSHOP ON POP PESTICIDESAND
ALTERNATIVES: The UNEP Subregional Workshop on the
Stockholm Convention on POPs and Alternative Approachesto
POPs Pesticidesfor the West Asian and Eastern Mediterranean
Regionistentatively scheduled for 29 September - 3 October 2003,
in Casablanca, Moracco. For moreinformation, contact: Jim
Willis, UNEP Chemicals; tel: +41-22-917-8111; fax: +41-22-797-
3460; e-mail: chemicals@unep.ch; Internet: http://
www.chem.unep.ch/pops/newlayout/calendar_of events.htm

UNEP REGIONAL WORKSHOP ON THE STOCK -
HOLM CONVENTION AND ALTERNATIVESTO POPS
PESDTICIDESFOR THE SOUTH EAST ASIA REGION:
The UNEP Regiona Workshop on the Stockholm Convention on
POPs and Alternative Approachesto POPs Pesticidesfor the South
East AsiaRegionistentatively scheduled for September-October
2003, in Bangkok, Thailand. For more information, contact: Jim
Willis, UNEP Chemicals; tel: +41-22-917-8111; fax: +41-22-797-
3460; e-mail: chemicals@unep.ch; Internet: http://
www.chem.unep.ch/pops/newlayout/calendar_of _events.htm

19TH SESSION OF THE FAO PANEL OF EXPERTSON
PESTICIDE SPECIFICATIONS, REGISTRATION
REQUIREMENTS, APPLICATION STANDARDSAND
PRIOR INFORMED CONSENT: ThisFAO Panel of Experts
will meet from 27-31 October 2003, in Rome, Italy. For moreinfor-
mation, contact: Gero Vaagt, FAO; tel: +39-6-5705-5757; fax: +39-
6-5705-6347; e-mail: gero.vaagt@fao.org; Internet:
http://www.fao.org/events

SECOND SESSION OF THE OPEN-ENDED WORKING
GROUP OF THE BASEL CONVENTION: The second session
of the Basel Open-Ended Working Group is scheduled for 20-24
October 2003, in Geneva, Switzerland. Thethird session is sched-
uled for 26-30 April 2004, in Geneva. For moreinformation,
contact: Basel Convention Secretariat; tel: +41-22-917-8218; fax:
+41-22-797-3454; e-mail: shc@unep.ch; Internet:
http://www.basel.int

FOURTH SESSION OF THE INTERGOVERNMENTAL
FORUM ON CHEMICAL SAFETY (IFCS): IFCSFORUM IV
will convene from 1-7 November 2003, in Bangkok, Thailand.
FORUM V will take placein Hungary in late 2005 or 2006. For

moreinformation, contact: Judy Stober, |FCS Executive Secretary;
tel: +41-22-791-3650; fax: +41-22-791-4875; e-mail:
ifcs@who.ch; Internet: http://www.ifcs.ch

MONTREAL PROTOCOL MOP-15: Thefifteenth Meeting
of the Partiesto the Montreal Protocol (MOP-15) will be held from
10-14 November 2003, in Nairobi, Kenya. For moreinformation,
contact: Secretariat for the Vienna Convention and the Montreal
Protocaol; tel: +254-20-62-3850; fax: +254-20-62-3601; e-mail:
marco.gonza ez@unep.org; Internet: http://www.unep.org/ozone/
meet2003.shtml

PREPCOM 10OF THE INTERNATIONAL CONFER-
ENCE ONCHEMICALSMANAGEMENT FOR FURTHER
DEVELOPMENT OF A STRATEGIC APPROACH TO
INTERNATIONAL CHEMICALSMANAGEMENT
(SAICM): Thefirst SAICM preparatory meeting is scheduled for
9-13 November 2003, in Bangkok, Thailand. This preparatory
meeting isheldin responseto aUNEP Governing Council decision
on a"“ Strategic Approach to International Chemicals Manage-
ment,” which highlightsaneed to further develop astrategic
approach to promote the incorporation of chemical safety issues
into the devel opment agenda. For moreinformation, contact:
UNEP Chemicals; tel: +41-22-917-8111; fax: +41-22-797-3460; e-
mail: chemicals@unep.ch; Internet: http://www.chem.unep.ch/
saicm

PIC INC-10: Thetenth session of the Intergovernmental Nego-
tiating Committee for an International Legally Binding Instrument
for the Application of the Prior Informed Consent Procedure for
Certain Hazardous Chemicalsand Pesticidesin International Trade
will take place from 17-21 November 2003, in Geneva, Switzer-
land. For moreinformation, contact the Rotterdam Convention
interim Secretariat: Niek van der Graaff, FAO; tel: +39-6-5705-
3441; fax: +39-6-5705-6347; e-mail: niek.vandergraaff @fao.org;
or JimWillis, UNEP Chemicals; tel: +41-22-917-8111; fax: +41-
22-797-3460; e-mail: chemicals@unep.ch; Internet:
http://www.pic.int

GEF COUNCIL MEETING: The GEF Council meeting will
be convened from 19-21 November 2003, in Washington, DC, US.
NGO consultations will precede the Council meeting. For more
information, contact: GEF Secretariat; tel +1-202-473-0508; fax:
+1-202-522-3240; e-mail: secretariatgef @worl dbank.org;
Internet: http://www.gefweb.org

EXPERT GROUP ON BAT-BEP: The second meeting of the
Expert Group on Best Available Techniques and Best Environ-
mental Practicesis scheduled to meet in December 2003 in Chile.
For more information, contact the Stockholm Convention interim
Secretariat; tel: +41-22-917-8191; fax: +41-22-797-3460; e-mail:
ssc@chemicals.unep.ch; Internet: http://www.pops.int

BASEL CONVENTION COP-7: The seventh meeting of the
Conference of the Partiesto the Basel Convention istentatively
scheduled for 25-29 October 2004. For moreinformation, contact:
Basel Secretariat; tel: +41-22-917-8218; fax: +41-22-797-3454; e-
mail: sbc@unep.ch; Internet: http://www.basel.int


http://www.ecotox.org.au/
http://www.fao.org/
http://
http://
http://
http://www.fao.org/events
http://www.basel.int
http://www.ifcs.ch
http://www.unep.org/ozone/
http://www.chem.unep.ch/
http://www.pic.int
http://www.gefweb.org
http://www.pops.int
http://www.basel.int

